
 

 

Copeland Borough Council 
The Market Hall 
Market Place 
Whitehaven 
CA28 7JG  

 
STRATEGIC NUCLEAR AND ENERGY BOARD 

AGENDA 
 

Venue: The Atrium, The Copeland Centre, Catherine Street, 
Whitehaven. CA28 7SJ  

Date:   Thursday, 24th June, 2021 
Time:   2.00 pm 
Contact Officer: Clive Willoughby       Tel: 07385 362806 

 
 

1. Appointment of Chair   

2. Apologies for Absence   

3. Declarations of Interest   

4. Minutes of the Meeting held on  29 April 2021  1 - 6 

5. Social Value at the NDA - Presentation by Hazel Blears   

6. Sustainability - Presentation by Davide Stronati & Steve Hardy   

7. Programme and Project Partners (PPP) Social Value - 
Presentation by Luke Richardson & Adil Sardardeen  

 

8. Geological Disposal Facility (GDF) Update  7 - 44 

9. Spherical Tokamak for Energy Production (STEP) Siting Process 
Update  

45 - 48 

10. Strategic Nuclear and Energy Board Forward Plan - Verbal 
Update  

 

11. Exempt Information   

 The Chair to move: 
That under Section 100 (a) (4) of the Local Government Act 
1972, the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the 
following item on the grounds that, if they were present, there 
could be disclosed to them exempt information as defined in the 
relevant paragraphs of Schedule 12A of the Act. 
 

 

Public Document Pack



 

 

12. Planning - Verbal Update   

13. Date and Time of Next Meeting   

 The next meeting of the Strategic Nuclear and Energy Board will 
be held on Tuesday 3 August 2021 at 2:00pm in The Atrium, The 
Copeland Centre, Catherine Street, Whitehaven. 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Membership: Councillors Sam Pollen (Deputy Chair), David Banks, 
Gwynneth Everett, JosephGhayouba, David Moore, Steven Morgan and 
Felicity Wilson. 

 
Contacts:  Direct Dial: 07385 362806 
   E-mail: clive.willoughby@copeland.gov.uk 
   Website: www.copeland.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 



STRATEGIC NUCLEAR AND ENERGY BOARD 
 

MINUTES OF MEETING HELD ON THURSDAY, 29 APRIL 2021 
 

Present: Councillors Steven Morgan, Felicity Wilson, David Banks, 
Gwynneth Everett, David Moore and Sam Pollen. 
 
Officers: Steve Smith (Nuclear Projects Manager), Robert Ward (Nuclear Sector 
Development Manager), Heather Morrison (Principal Planning Officer), 
Catherine Little (Nuclear Projects & Programmes Technical Support Officer), 
Clive Willoughby (Democratic Services Officer) and Rose Blaney (Democratic 
Services Officer). 
 
Also Present: Sophie Macfarlane-Smith (Head of Customer Business, Civil 
Nuclear Business, Rolls Royce) – for agenda item 4 only. 
 
Note: As Councillor Steven Morgan was not present at the start time, the 
Deputy Chair, Councillor Felicity Wilson, opened the meeting. 
 
 

SN 20/44 Apologies for Absence  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Pat Graham (Chief Executive). 
 

SN 20/45 Declarations of Interest  
 
No Declarations of Interest were made at this meeting. 
 

SN 20/46 Minutes of the Meeting held on  18 February 2021  
 
Consideration was given to the Minutes of the meeting held on 18 February 
2021.  
 
Councillor Sam Pollen referred to minute SN 20/34 and the funding for the 
Moorside Clean Energy Hub, where he stated that Government support and 
money was essential. He asked that EDF’s response agreeing with him be noted. 
 
Councillor Pollen also referred to minute SN 20/38 and asked if any progress had 
been made, however, as the Chair was not present, he would pick this up later. 
  
Councillor Steven Morgan joined the meeting at this point and asked the Deputy 
Chair, Councillor Felicity Wilson, to continue in the chair. 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



A vote was then taken by way of a roll call.  
 
On a vote of 5 For, 0 Against and 1 Abstentions, it was therefore:- 
 
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the meeting held on 18 February 2021 be 
agreed as a correct record and signed by the Chair as soon as practicable, 
subject to the comments made by Councillor Pollen being noted. 
 

SN 20/47 UK Small Modular Reactors (SMR)  
 
The Nuclear Sector Development Manager provided the Board with a brief 
introduction to this item and handed over to Sophie Macfarlane-Smith, who 
gave her presentation. 
 
The Board were provided with a brief background of Rolls Royce’s involvement 
in nuclear and their strong nuclear heritage with roots in defence and civil 
development. 
 
The presentation continued to cover the Rolls Royce SMR which is  a modular 
build power station, not a nuclear reactor. 
The Capital Cost would be under £1.8bn, the typical Levelised Cost Of Electricity 
of electricity £35-£50 per MWh, a compact site footprint and a 60 year plant 
lifetime. 
 
The SMR would be a factory built commodity, with a site canopy for a controlled 
site environment. 
 
The key characteristics of the SMR are 

 C470MWe output 

 3 Loop PWR 

 Standard UO2 fuel 

 4 year assembly and commissioning duration 

 >90% availability factor 

 Enhanced GenIII+ levels of safety and security 
 
90% of the power station would be fabricated across three main factories 
(Primary plant, Civil modules and Systems modules) and then transported to site 
by road. 
 
The Engineering, Manufacturing, Assembly (EMA) was then explained in more 
detail and it was further explained that this greatly reduced any risk. 

Page 2



It was explained that the UK SMR could also be used for powering a range of 
other decarbonising solutions, such as Desalination, Hydrogen & Synthetic Fuel 
production, Heating and Cooling. 
 
The Board was advised that the project was currently nearing the end of Phase 
One (Investability and feasibility, market development). Phase Two covers the 
Critical Design, verification and validation, Regulatory approval, site 
development support and securing the first UK orders. Phase Four (2024 
onwards) includes the completion of GDA, Design implementation, the first unit 
to be operational (by 2031) and the UK & export sales growth. 
 
A discussion followed where Members were able to ask questions on the 
presentation. 
The areas covered included, the time of construction, site licenses, the amount 
of electricity generated, the heat generated, the local supply chain, lead in time 
for training local people to work on site and the possibility of using the Fellside 
site at Sellafield.  
 
Copies of the presentation were requested and the Board were advised that the 
presentation had already been supplied to the Democratic Services Officer and 
Nuclear Sector Development Manager. 
 
The Chair thanked Sophie Macfarlane-Smith for her presentation and it was 
stated that the Council would be happy to help in any way, if required. 
 

SN 20/48 Spherical Tokamak for Energy Production (STEP) Siting Update  
 
The Nuclear Sector Development Manager introduced this item to the Board, 
and provided a brief update on the siting process which was launched in late 
2020 by the UK Atomic Energy Authority. 
 
Since the last Board meeting, the Cumbria LEP in partnership with Copeland 
Borough Council had nominated the Moorside site into this process. 
The UKAEA had since indicated that the nomination had passed the 
‘showstopper’ screening exercise, and would now be assessed against 
Commercial terms, Socio-economic vision, On-site characteristics and Off-site 
characteristics criteria. 
 
A Memorandum of Understanding would be signed between UKAEA and the 
nominating authorities, setting out how they would work together throughout 
the remainder of the site assessment and selection process.  
 

Page 3



During the discussion that followed, it was recognised that the competition was 
strong, but the Board was reassured that the influence of partners and lobbying 
was being used with the bid.  
 
A further update will be provided as appropriate. 
 
A vote was then taken by way of a roll call.  
 
On a vote of 6 For, 0 Against and 0 Abstentions, it was therefore:- 
 
RESOLVED – that the report be noted. 
 

SN 20/49 The UK Government's approach to identifying a site for a Geological 
Disposal Facility (GDF) for higher-activity radioactive waste  
 
The Nuclear Projects Manager introduced this item to the Board and provided 
an update on the Copeland Working Group. 
The three main aims of the group were: 

 Engage with local people to begin to understand their views, based on 
achieving the twin aims of finding a suitable site and a willing host 
community, 

 Identify and propose a Search Area (or areas) for further consideration, 

 Recruit initial members for a Community Partnership, which could take 
the process forward beyond the Working Group. 

 
The work items of the sub-groups would be developed further over the coming 
weeks and the sub-groups would be reporting back on a regular basis to the 
Working Group on progress and with recommendations as required. 
 
Further updates would be reported to the Board at future meetings. 
 
During the discussion that followed, Councillor David Moore was asked to clarify 
his position on the Working Group, which he did, stating the he was not there to 
make any decisions, but to bring back any recommendations to start Community 
Partnerships. 
The question was also raised as to why the County Council had declined an 
invitation to join the Working Group at this stage. In reply, it was stated that a 
letter from the County Council leader had been received stating he believed the 
process was flawed and that the time for the County Council to be involved was 
at the Planning application stage. 
  
 
 

Page 4



A vote was then taken by way of a roll call.  
 
On a vote of 6 For, 0 Against and 0 Abstentions, it was therefore:- 
 
RESOLVED – that the status and progress of the Copeland Working Group be 
noted. 
 

SN 20/50 Industrial Solutions Hub (ISH) Update  
 
The Nuclear Projects Manager provided a brief verbal summary of the Industrial 
Solutions Hub and progress to date. 
 
Arrangements were being made for the new programme manager, John 
Maddison, to attend a future Board meeting. 
  
There were two aspects to the ISH project,  

 Establishing the Organisation and  

 Campus activities. 
 
Discussions regarding establishing the organisation continue and also looking at 
Branding and Identity issues. 
 
With regard the Campus activity, the Property team have been engagement 
with existing tenants and working up a master plan for the site. 
 
RESOLVED – that the update be noted. 
 
 

SN 20/51 Nuclear Decommissioning Authority (NDA) Update  
 
The Nuclear Sector Development Manager introduced this item to the Board, 
which covered the publication of the Holliday Report; Strategy 4 Update; One 
NDA Update; NDA Sustainability Report and Net Zero; New Sellafield Ltd Chair; 
New LLWR CEO and Magnox Reactor Decommissioning Strategy.  
 
The Board was advised that the NDA had been invited to attend the next 
Strategic Nuclear and Energy Board meeting. 
 
Councillor Pollen thanked the Nuclear Sector Development Manager for the 
update and would welcome the opportunity to ask the NDA at the next meeting 
about their commitment to provide prosperity to the local communities. 
 

Page 5



The Board was advised that Hazel Blears would also be attending the next 
meeting on 24 June 2021 at 2pm. 
A vote was then taken by way of a roll call.  
 
On a vote of 6 For, 0 Against and 0 Abstentions, it was therefore:- 
 
RESOLVED – that the report be noted 
 

SN 20/52 Strategic Nuclear and Energy Board Forward Plan Update  
 
The Nuclear Sector Development Manager shared an updated Forward Plan with 
the Board, which included topics that will probably be coming to the Board in 
the future.  
 

SN 20/53 Exempt Information  
 
Consideration was given to a motion proposing that the remainder of the 
meeting be held in private.  
 
A vote was then taken by way of a roll call.  
 
On a vote of 6 For, 0 Against and 0 Abstentions, it was therefore:- 
 

SN 20/54 Planning Update  
 
The Principal Planning Officer provided the Board with an update of 
developments at Sellafield Limited. 
 
RESOLVED:- That the Update be noted. 
 

SN 20/55 Date and Time of Next Meeting  
 
The next meeting of the Strategic Nuclear and Energy Board will be held on 
Thursday 24 June 2021 at 2:00pm in The Atrium, The Copeland Centre.  
 
 
The Meeting closed at 4.15 pm  
 

 
Chair 

Page 6



 

 

STRATEGIC NUCLEAR AND ENERGY BOARD 240621 

 

The UK Government’s approach to identifying a site for a Geological Disposal 

Facility (GDF) for higher-activity radioactive waste  

 

LEAD OFFICER: Pat Graham, Chief Executive Officer 

REPORT AUTHOR: Steve Smith, Nuclear Projects Manager 

 

 

Summary: 

This report provides Members with an update on the Government’s search for 

a suitable site and a willing community to host a Geological Disposal Facility 

(GDF) for the disposal of the UK’s higher activity radioactive waste, as described 

within the Government’s Working with Communities (WwC) policy.  

Recommendation: 

That Members of the Board note the current position in relation to the 

Government’s search for a suitable site and willing community to host a GDF and 

specifically the latest work of the Copeland Working Group. 

That Members consider any specific conditions emanating from their 

consideration of the ‘Developing a Community Partnership Agreement’ as 

recommendations to Executive for inclusion within such an Agreement, should 

a decision to form a Community Partnership be taken in the future, following 

the conclusion of the Copeland Working Group’s work programme. 

That Members note the recent publications from the Committee on Radioactive 

Waste Management (CoRWM), specifically a new position paper on policy, legal 

and regulatory issues for a GDF and the Committee’s work programme for 2021 

That Members note the headline positions of GDF proposals being developed in 

Sweden, Finland and Canada 

 

 

Page 7

Agenda Item 8



 

1. Introduction, Purpose and background 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to; 

 provide Members with an update on the work of the Copeland Working 

Group 

 seek Members comments regarding the contents of a draft  Community 

Partnership and to make any recommendations regarding any conditions 

that the Board would want to make to Executive should the Council be 

asked by the Copeland Working Group to consider the Council’s 

participation in a Community Partnership 

 provide Members with information regarding the latest work of the 

Committee on Radioactive Waste Management (CoRWM) 

 update Members on international developments relating to proposals to 

establish GDF facilities 

 

1.2 Members of the Board will recall previous reports which; 

 Summarised the background to the decision of the Executive in July 2020 

to open discussions with Radioactive Waste Management (RWM), with 

a view to establishing a Working Group in Copeland to explore any 

potential suitable sites for consideration as a location for a GDF, 

excluding those areas of the Borough that lie within the Lake District 

National Park boundary but potentially including the ‘in-shore area’ of 

the coast of Copeland.  

 Reminded Members that the Council’s engagement at the Working 

Group stage does not presuppose support for a GDF in Copeland. 

According to the WwC process, any future decision on this matter will be 

subject to a future Test of Public Support (ToPS), much later in the 

process. 

 

2. Update on the work of the Copeland Working Group  

2.1 Previous reports have referred to the formation and work of the Copeland 
Working Group, which is the first formal step in the Government’s 
‘Working with Communities’ policy with 3 specific aims:  

Page 8



 

 Engage with local people to begin to understand their views, based on 
achieving the twin aims of finding a suitable site and a willing 
host community  

 Identify and propose a Search Area (or Areas) for further consideration  

 Recruit initial members for a Community Partnership, which could take 
the process forward beyond the Working Group.  

2.2 As a reminder membership of the Working Group has been established and 

includes representatives from; 

 

 Relevant Principle Local Authorities - Copeland Borough Council 

 Radioactive Waste Management  

 Interested Parties; David Faulkner, Genr8 North Ltd - Andy Ross, Irton 

Hall Ltd - Gary Bullivant 

 Copeland District Association of Local Councils – Cllr Andy Pratt, Chris 

Shaw 

 Independent Chair – Mark Cullinan 

 Independent Facilitator, Nick Gardham 

 

2.3 Members will recall that Cumbria County Council has declined an invitation 
to join the Working Group.  

 
2.4 Since the launch in November the Working Group has met on several 

occasions to consider taking forward the above work-streams. Reports of 
the Working Group discussions are available via the Working Group 
website Working Group Copeland (copeland.workinginpartnership.org.uk).  

 
2.5 Three sub-groups have been established to take forward the three main 

work-streams and objectives of the Working Group.  
 
2.6 The Communications and Engagement subgroup has continued to 

implement the communications plan with the aim ‘to engage with local 
people to begin to understand their views, based on achieving the twin 
aims of finding a suitable site and a willing host community’.  

 
2.7 The plan aims to: 

 Explain what it is and why a GDF is needed  

 Explain why the public’s view matters  

 Communicate how issues or questions can be raised   

Page 9

https://copeland.workinginpartnership.org.uk/


 

 As it identifies a Search Area(s), the Working Group will start work to 
understand the local area and any issues or questions the community 
within it may have  

 Gather a range of views which can be taken forward to any potential 
Search Area discussion 

  
2.8 The plan includes: 

 Regular press and media activities,  

 Utilisation of the Working Group website, links to a virtual exhibition 
and supporting information 

 Using social media via LinkedIn, Twitter and Facebook 

 A monthly newsletter is also published electronically and made 
available via the website and to those who have registered on the 
website to receive updates.   

 Information brochures have been distributed to stakeholders across 
the Borough 

 A programme of Borough-wide face-to-face exhibitions is planned but 
final dates will be subject to Covid restrictions being lifted    

 Several webinars with local residents have been held covering specific 
topics as requested by participants - two were held in March, two in 
May and two more planned for July.  

 Telephone surveys of over 400 local residents have been on-going 
seeking local resident’s views on related issues 

2.9 The second subgroup looking at a proposed Search Area(s) has been 
meeting to consider the range of technical information to consider the 
identification of a Search Area, with a view to making a recommendation to 
a future meeting of the Working Group.  

 
2.10 The third subgroup looking at matters relating to the potential 

establishment of a Community Partnership (CP) has developed a work 
plan, which encompasses the following key areas:  

 

 The shape of the initial work plan to transition from a Working Group 
to a CP  

 The processes required to appoint a Chair and CP members 

 What support mechanisms are required to enable the CP to function 
appropriately  

 A draft community partnership agreement between the CP parties  

Page 10



 

 Defining arrangements for the management of the Community 
Investment Funding.  

Progress on these matters is reported on a regular basis to the Working 
Group. 

2.11 The original intention within the Government’s ‘Working with 

Communities’ (WwC) policy guidance, and as outlined at the launch in 

November, is for the Working Group to complete its work within 9 to 12 

months. As the Working Group moves forward with a view to completing 

its work programme over the coming weeks, it will conclude by making a 

number of recommendations to Group members, RWM and the Council. 

A further report will be submitted to SNEB to consider the Working Group 

recommendations, prior to the Board’s own recommendations being 

considered by a subsequent meeting of the Councils Executive.  

 

3. Developing a Community Partnership Agreement  

 

3.1 The next stage in the Working with Communities policy after the Working 

Group has completed its work programme and subject to a 

recommendation being forthcoming from the Working Group, is the 

formation of a Community Partnership. According to the policy the role of 

the Community Partnership is to: 

 

 facilitate discussion with the community;  

 identify relevant information that people in the Search Area and 

Potential Host Community want or need about the siting process; 

 be the key vehicle for community dialogue with RWM; 

 review and refine the boundaries of the Search Area as RWM’s 

investigations  

 progress; 

 identify priorities for Community Investment Funding; 

 make recommendations to the relevant principal local authorities on 

the Community Partnership on whether to invoke the Right of 

Withdrawal and if and when to launch a Test of Public Support; 

 agree a programme of activities to develop the community’s 

understanding of the siting process and the potential implications of 

hosting a GDF; 

Page 11



 

 develop a community vision and consider the part a GDF may play in 

that vision;  

 monitor public opinion in relation to siting a GDF within the Search 

Area and the Potential Host Community 

 

3.2 One of the first tasks of the Community Partnership will be to agree a 

Community Partnership Agreement which will set out the principles of how 

the members of the Community Partnership will work together and their 

roles and responsibilities. It should include terms of reference to clarify 

how the Community Partnership operates, how it will take decisions, settle 

disputes and a Programme of Activities.  Different Community Partnerships 

may approach this in different ways. A draft version of such an agreement 

has been prepared nationally as a template for consideration by local 

partnerships and is available at the following link Developing the 

Community Partnership Agreement.pdf.    

 

3.3 Appendix A attached to this report includes the text from this draft 

Community Partnership Agreement for Members consideration at this 

stage. Although the Community Partnership Agreement does not need to 

be a legal agreement the Council will be seeking the views of legal advisors 

as to the appropriateness of the contents of the document. The template 

document usefully includes a number ‘guidance notes’ in the form of 

discussion boxes throughout the document to enable detailed 

consideration of the issues by Community Partnership members. Should 

the Working Group at the conclusion of its work programme make a 

recommendation to form a Community Partnership, Members of SNEB are 

asked to consider what conditions they would like to see in principle 

included in such an agreement. The following are initial suggestions;  

 

 The establishment of a mechanism for the distribution of the 

Community Investment Fund that is acceptable to the Council 

 The inclusion of a Community Engagement programme that enables 

local residents from across the Borough to engage in the work of the 

Community Partnership 

 The costs of Council involvement in the process are recoverable. 

Further suggestions from SNEB Members are welcomed. 

Page 12

file:///C:/Users/ssmith/OneDrive%20-%20Copeland%20Borough%20Council/Desktop/Developing%20the%20Community%20Partnership%20Agreement.pdf
file:///C:/Users/ssmith/OneDrive%20-%20Copeland%20Borough%20Council/Desktop/Developing%20the%20Community%20Partnership%20Agreement.pdf


 

4. Committee on Radioactive Waste Management (CoRWM) – update 

 

4.1 Members will recall previous engagements and presentations from 

representatives of CoRWM and will know that the Committee provides 

government with independent advice on how to deal safely with 

radioactive waste. The Committee has recently published a new position 

paper which can be viewed via the following link; Policy, legal and 

regulatory issues for a GDF and associated radioactive waste management 

issues: CoRWM position paper (publishing.service.gov.uk)  

 

4.2 Members may also be interested in viewing CoRWMs work programme for 

2021 which can be seen via the following link CoRWM Proposed 

Programme of Work 2021 (publishing.service.gov.uk) 

 

 

5. International developments  

 

5.1 Members will be aware that a number of countries are considering GDF as 

a means of disposing of high level radioactive waste. In Sweden following 

many years of community engagement and discussion about the project, a 

decision on whether to proceed with the GDF is currently with the Swedish 

Government and is expected soon. In Finland work has begun on the first 

disposal tunnel for their repository. Located at Onkalo on the Baltic coast, 

this will be the first in the world to dispose of spent fuel. It is estimated 

that 100 deposition tunnels will be excavated over the century long 

operational phase, with a total length of 35 kilometres. Used fuel will be 

placed in the bedrock at a depth of around 450 metres, with emplacement 

beginning in the mid-2020s. In Canada, borehole investigations have 

commenced at the two sites that are still under consideration for a 

repository. These are Ignace and South Bruce, both in Ontario. The 

Canadian process, like its UK equivalent, is based on community consent, 

and there is both support and organised opposition to the proposal around 

the sites, including from First Nation communities. The developer (NWMO) 

plans to make a final decision in 2023. 

 

 

Page 13

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/984531/policy-legal-regulatory-issues-for-gdf.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/984531/policy-legal-regulatory-issues-for-gdf.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/984531/policy-legal-regulatory-issues-for-gdf.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/992433/corwm-work-programme-2021.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/992433/corwm-work-programme-2021.pdf


 

Appendix A 

Developing the Community Partnership Agreement  
 
One of the first tasks of the prospective members of the Community 
Partnership will be to develop the Community Partnership Agreement. This 
could take the form of a Memorandum of Understanding (MoU). It will set out 
the principles of how the members of the Community Partnership will work 
together and their roles and responsibilities. It should include terms of 
reference to clarify how the Community Partnership operates, how it will take 
decisions, settle disputes and a Programme of Activities.  Different Community 
Partnerships may approach this in different ways and some may want to 
continue to use an independent facilitator to guide them through the process. 
 
Once the text in the Community Partnership Agreement is agreed, it will need 
to be signed by each of the prospective Community Partnership members, 
including RWM. Once signed by all those concerned, the Community 
Partnership will be considered to be in place and Community Investment 
Funding of up to £1 million per community per year can be made available to 
the community in the Search Area. 
 
Although the Community Partnership Agreement does not need to be a legal 
agreement, we recognise that members may wish to take independent legal 
advice before signing it.  RWM will meet the reasonable and proper costs of 
such independent legal advice. 
 
It is likely that the Community Partnership Agreement will be subject to review 
and refinement during the siting process, for example, if a Search Area 
changes. When new members are brought on to the Community Partnership, 
they will also need to sign a copy of the Community Partnership Agreement.  
 
The Community Partnership Agreement will be publicly available to ensure 
that the work carried out by those on the Community Partnership and its role 
and activities are open and transparent.   
 
A sample template Community Partnership Agreement is provided below.  It 
contains guidance notes to assist the prospective members of a Community 
Partnership in tailoring the provisions of the Community Partnership 
Agreement. 
 

Page 14



 

Template Community Partnership Agreement  

[DRAFT] COMMUNITY PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT ("CPA")  

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING ("MoU") 

FOR XX COMMUNITY PARTNERSHIP   

The "Note to Members" sections are to assist the prospective members of a 
Community Partnership in developing, tailoring and finalising the form of CPA.   

The items highlighted in yellow and in square brackets should be agreed by the 
Members and inserted in the final document. 

Note to Members: this form of CPA applies to Community Partnerships in 
England only.   There is a separate draft form of CPA for Wales. 

 All references in this sample template CPA to:  

 The Working with Communities Policy ("WWC Policy") is a reference 
to the WWC Policy for England; and 

 ‘Community Guidance’ is a reference to the Community Guidance for 
England. 

 

THIS MoU is made on [         ] [20     ] 

BETWEEN: 

 (1) RADIOACTIVE WASTE MANAGEMENT LIMITED being the public body 
responsible for the delivery of a  Geological Disposal  Facility (a "GDF") and a 
permanent member of the Community Partnership ("RWM") (including any 
successor body to RWM that is given the responsibility for the delivery of a 
GDF); and 

 (2)  [        ]/[                    ] being ["Relevant Principal Local Authorities"][a 
"Relevant Principal Local Authority"] (the "RPLA Member[s]"); and 

Page 15



 

 [(3) [      ] being [representatives of community groups, 
organisations and individual community members of the Community 
Partnership (the "Community Members")] 

each being a "Member" of the Community Partnership and collectively the 
"Members" of the Community Partnership. 

DEFINITIONS 

Save as expressly defined in the main body of this MoU, words beginning with 
initial capital letters have the meaning set out in Schedule 1.  

INTRODUCTION 

The Nuclear Decommissioning Authority ("NDA") is a non-departmental public 
body established by the Energy Act 2004 and is responsible for implementing 
government policy on the long-term management of radioactive waste.  RWM 
is a wholly owned subsidiary of the NDA, and one of the responsibilities it has 
been given by the NDA is the responsibility for the delivery of a GDF.   

The requirement to establish a Community Partnership Agreement is set out in 
the Government policy entitled "Implementing Geological Disposal - Working 
with Communities An Updated framework for the long-term management of 

Note to Members 

 the CPA will be signed by all of the Members i.e. RWM, each Relevant 
Principal Local Authority that wishes to join the Community 
Partnership and each individual Community Member.  Where 
individual Community Members represent an organisation, the 
organisation may need to be a party to the CPA.  

 The Community Partnership referred to in the WWC Policy can only 
be formed and continue to operate if one or more Relevant Principal 
Local Authorities in the Search Area agree to participate i.e. there 
must be at least one Relevant Principal Local Authority representing 
the residents of each district or unitary authority electoral ward in the 
Search Area (see para 6.28 of the WWC Policy). 

 

Page 16



 

higher activity radioactive waste" published by the Department for Business, 
Energy & Industrial Strategy on 19th December 20181 (the "WWC Policy").  

The WWC Policy sets out the Government's consent-based approach to 
identifying a suitable location for a GDF through working with communities in 
a GDF siting process (referred to throughout this CPA as the "siting process").  
Communities sit at the heart of this siting process. The policy is clear that a 
GDF can only be built where there is a suitable site and a community consents 
to it being built following a positive Test of Public Support.   

This non-legally binding MoU is the Community Partnership Agreement 
referred to in paragraphs 6.48 to 6.50 of the WWC Policy.   

Note to Members 

The purpose of the Community Partnership Agreement is to set out 
the principles of how the Members will work together and their 
roles and responsibilities.  The Members have a wide discretion, at 
all times taking into account the need to comply with the 
requirements of the WWC Policy, in deciding on the content, 
structure, level of detail and the final provisions to be included in the 
MoU.    

This sample Community Partnership Agreement (drafted in the form 
of a MoU) has been prepared to assist the Members in developing 
and tailoring a Community Partnership Agreement to fit with the 
needs of the community within the Search Area.  The Members may 
decide on a different structure and a shorter form Community 
Partnership Agreement and or require more detail in specific areas.  
As such, this sample form MoU is not intended to be an exhaustive 
or concrete structure to be strictly adhered to, rather - the intention 
is to set out the key matters that will need to be considered.   

 

PURPOSE AND INTENTION 

The purpose of this MoU is to establish the Community Partnership and to 
formally appoint the Members to the Community Partnership. In signing this 
MoU, the Members acknowledge: 

                                                           
 

Page 17



 

It does not imply a commitment by any of the Members or the community 
situated within the Search Area or the Potential Host Community (once 
identified) to host a GDF; 

A decision by RWM to recommend a site, or sites, to the UK Government for a 
GDF in a Potential Host Community cannot be made until a Test of Public 
Support has been undertaken that demonstrates support by the residents of 
the Potential Host Community for the development of a GDF within their 
community;  

The community can withdraw from the siting process at any point up until a 
Test of Public Support is taken (the "Community Right of Withdrawal”) (see 
Clause 13.2 below); 

In addition to and separate from the Community Right of Withdrawal, RWM 
can also choose to withdraw from the siting process at any time (whether 
before or after the Test of Public Support) (the "RWM Ability to Withdraw") 
(see Clause 13.3 below); and 

the signing of this MoU facilitates the availability of Community Investment 
Funding for projects, schemes or initiatives in the Search Area (or once 
identified, the Potential Host Community). 

TERM AND TERMINATION 

This MoU shall take effect once it is signed by each of the Members. This MoU 
may be signed in any number of counterpart copies and by the Members on 
separate counterpart copies (each of which is an original and all of which 
together make up the whole MoU).    

This MoU will continue in effect and the Community Partnership shall remain 
in place until any of the following events occur: 

There is no longer at least one Relevant Principal Local Authority representing 
each district or unitary electoral ward in the Search Area. 

The Community Right of Withdrawal is exercised. 

The RWM Ability to Withdraw is exercised.  

The results of the Test of Public Support taken by the Potential Host 
Community are negative i.e. the community is not supportive of hosting a 
GDF; or 

Page 18



 

The results of the Test of Public Support taken by the Potential Host 
Community are positive i.e. the Potential Host Community supports hosting a 
GDF. 

If any of the events set out in Clauses 4.2.1 to 4.2.5 occur, the Members shall 
agree the timings and procedure for the exit from and termination of this 
MoU, in particular, taking into account the need to agree and implement a 
transition period and or an exit period. 

In accordance with paragraph 6.78 of the WWC Policy, if either the 
Community Right of Withdrawal or the RWM Ability to Withdraw is exercised, 
the availability of Community Investment Funding shall cease in the Search 
Area or Potential Host Community (however, any CIF that has been committed 
within that financial year by the Community Investment Panel will be 
honoured). 

Note to Members:  

On the formation of the Community Partnership, the Members may 
wish to agree the procedure to follow on termination and include 
this in a schedule to the MoU.  This will ensure there is an efficient 
and certain exit/termination process.  

Where any of the events set out in Clauses 4.2.1 to 4.2.5 occur, it 
would be beneficial for the Members to agree the timescales for a 
"transitional" or "exit period" i.e. it may not be appropriate for the 
Community Partnership to immediately terminate.  For example, in 
the event of a negative Test of Public Support, a reasonable "exit 
period" may be required in order to finalise the affairs of the 
Community Partnership and to appropriately document "lessons 
learnt".   

If the event set out in clause 4.2.5 above occurs i.e. there is a 
positive Test of Public Support, it may not be appropriate for the 
Community Partnership to immediately cease to operate and for 
this MoU to terminate.  Instead, a "transition period" may be 
required whilst a recommendation is made to the UK Government 
and a final decision is made as to whether the Potential Host 
Community is being taken forward to potentially host a GDF.  At this 
stage, the Members may decide to continue the work of the 
Community Partnership, for example, through transitioning into a 
liaison group to provide a continued interface between RWM and 

Page 19



 

the local community during the development consent process, the 
regulatory permitting and licensing processes and through to the 
construction, operation and closure of a GDF. A new form of 
MoU/Community Partnership Agreement (with new Terms of 
Reference) may need to be prepared. 

 
CORE FUNCTIONS AND RESPONSIBILITIES 

Note to Members:  

This section will need to set out the role, core functions and 
responsibilities of the Community Partnership and reflect paragraph 
6.30 of the WWC Policy.   

 
TERMS OF REFERENCE ("TOR") 

The Members shall develop a ToR for the Community Partnership and a ToR 
for any Sub-group(s) of the Community Partnership.   

Note to Members:  

Each ToR should include, for example, the roles of the Members, 
guiding principles, governance (e.g. meetings, voting rights and 
decision making) and how the Community Partnership (and each 
Sub-group) will reflect the views and interests of the community. 

Schedule 2 sets out a draft ToR for the Community Partnership that 
includes the minimum requirements set out in the WWC Policy. 

 
The ToRs are attached at Schedule 2 of this MoU.  The Members agree to keep 
ToRs under regular review with a formal review carried out at least [annually] 
to ensure the ToRs continue to reflect the purpose and objectives of the 
Community Partnership and each Sub-group. 

MEMBERSHIP 

Note to Members: See paragraphs 6.28, 6.29 and Table 2 (page 59) 
and paragraphs 6.33 to 6.39 of the WWC Policy. 

Paragraph 4 of the draft ToR in Schedule 2 of this MoU sets out provisions 
governing the appointment of Members; duration of memberships; review of 

Page 20



 

memberships; roles of Members; the ability to co-opt members to the 
Community Partnership and Sub-groups and substitutions. 

STRUCTURE OF THE COMMUNITY PARTNERSHIP 

The Members will work together to establish an appropriate structure to allow 
the effective operation of the Community Partnership.  

Note to Members: 

Sub-groups to the main Community Partnership could be set up to 
consider particular issues and activities.  A Community Investment 
Panel should be set up to review recommendations for funding for 
projects, schemes or initiatives within the Search Area and to assist 
with the assessment of applications for Community Investment 
Funding. 

 
The Members will keep the structure of the Community Partnership under 
regular review and make any necessary amendments and additions to the 
structure of the Community Partnership Agreement as and when required.  A 
review of the structure of the Community Partnership will need to take place, 
for example, where there are changes to the boundaries of the Search Area 
(or, once identified, the Potential Host Community) and/or where there are 
material changes to the membership of the Community Partnership. 

SEARCH AREA 

The Members will keep the boundaries of the Search Area under review and 
refine the boundaries of the Search Area during the siting process until the 
Potential Host Community is identified.   

PROGRAMME OF ACTIVITIES 

The Members will work together to develop and agree a Programme of 
Activities. The Programme of Activities is attached at Schedule [   ] of this MoU. 

Note to Members:  

Consider provisions required in the MoU on the development and 
agreement of a Programme of Activities including the regular 
review and monitoring of the same.  The activities could include, for 
example: 

Page 21



 

 Sharing and discussing the RWM technical programme. 

 Responding to any questions, issues or concerns that the 
community might have about the siting process. 

 Capacity building (strengthening skills, knowledge and 
confidence) of individuals and groups within the community 
(for example, building the skills required to apply for CIF). 

 Considering how a GDF could play a part in a Community 
Vision. 

 Commissioning reports on topics that might be of interest to 
the Community Partnership; and 

 Managing and co-ordinating communications between the 
Community Partnership and the community. 

 
COMMUNITY INVESTMENT FUNDING ("CIF") 

The Members acknowledge that CIF can only be used to fund projects, 
schemes or initiatives within the Search Area (or, once identified, the Potential 
Host Community) that meet the CIF Principles (as defined in Schedule 1 
(Definitions)).   

Any local funding priorities/criteria agreed by the Community Partnership 
(pursuant to paragraph 6.39 and paragraph 6.71 of the WWC Policy) shall be 
documented (including the justification and reasons for the same) and 
included in Schedule [  ] of this MoU. 

The Community Partnership will keep its agreed priorities for CIF under regular 
review in order to make sure that the local funding priorities continue to 
reflect the Search Area (or, once identified, the Potential Host Community). 
The Members shall agree any required updates to the agreed local funding 
priorities at a meeting of the Community Partnership. 

The mechanism for approving the funding of projects will be agreed with 
RWM (in conjunction with the NDA and BEIS).  The Members will work closely 
with RWM, the Community Investment Panel and the Funding Administrator 
with regards to the disbursement of CIF.  

 

Page 22



 

Note to Members:  

RWM is subject to the guidance published by HM Treasury entitled, 
"Managing Public Money" dated July 2013 (with annexes revised in 
March 2018).  As such RWM has established mechanisms for the 
disbursement of Community Investment Funding. Members will need 
to work closely with RWM and the Funding Administrator to review 
the recommendations for the disbursement of CIF, at all times being 
cognisant of the policy and regulatory constraints in relation to the 
same. Consideration will be required as to whether further information 
should be included in this MoU. 

 

As set out in Clause 4.4 above and in accordance with paragraph 6.78 of the 
WWC Policy, if either the Community Right of Withdrawal or the RWM Ability 
to Withdraw is exercised, the availability of Community Investment Funding 
shall cease in the Search Area or Potential Host Community (however, any CIF 
that has been committed within that financial year by the Community 
Investment Panel will be honoured). 

In the event any of the triggers for ceasing the availability of CIF occur, the 
Members will agree an appropriate process for ending the disbursement of CIF 
with RWM and the Funding Administrator.   

Note to Members:  

The MoU will need to set out an appropriate process for ending the 
availability of CIF (including, for example, evaluation, final audits and 
sharing "lessons learnt"). 

 
MONITORING OF PROGRESS AND DELIVERABLES 

The Members will develop and agree an appropriate monitoring and reporting 
mechanism (for example, through the establishment of documented key 
performance indicators) to evaluate ongoing engagement with the community 
and delivery of the actions set out in the Programme of Activities. The 
monitoring and reporting mechanism must be robust, transparent and not 
overly complex.  The agreed monitoring indicators are included in Schedule [   ] 
of this MoU.   

Page 23



 

THE RIGHT OF WITHDRAWAL 

Pursuant to the WWC Policy, there is a separate and independent right of 
withdrawal from the siting process for both the community located within the 
Search Area or the Potential Host Community (the "Community Right of 
Withdrawal") and RWM as the delivery body (the "RWM Ability to 
Withdraw"). 

The Community Right of Withdrawal 

The community may be withdrawn from the siting process at any point up 
until a Test of Public Support is taken.   

The Members acknowledge: 

The decision on whether to invoke the Community Right of Withdrawal will be 
taken by the RPLA Member(s) on the Community Partnership. 

Where the RPLA Member(s) decide to seek the views of the residents in the 
Search Area (or, once identified, the Potential Host Community) on whether to 
invoke the Community Right of Withdrawal, then the decision as to the most 
appropriate method for the RPLA Member(s) to use:- 

Shall be a decision for all the RPLA Members and the Community Members 
but exclude RWM; and 

The chosen consultation method must be recorded in writing and annexed to 
this MoU in Schedule [  ]. 

Note to Members:  

The method chosen to seek views could be, for example, a local 
referendum, a formal consultation or statistically representative 
polling.  If new methods of consultation emerge in the future the 
Community Partnership may wish to consider a different approach.   

Consider carrying out/commissioning an options appraisal setting out 
the pros and cons of each consultation method and a conclusion 
setting out the recommendation for the most appropriate 
consultation method which can then be decided upon by the RPLA 
Members and the Community Members.  The Community Guidance 
identifies examples of different methods that could be used. 

Page 24



 

RWM, as a Member of the Community Partnership, will be able to participate 
in discussions on the Community Right of Withdrawal save that RWM will not 
take part in any decisions/votes regarding the Community Right of Withdrawal. 

Once the Community Right of Withdrawal is exercised, the siting process in 
that community will come to an end (in accordance with Clause 4 above). The 
allocation of CIF will also end, save for any CIF that has already been 
committed during that financial year, which will be honoured. 

Note to Members:  

The MoU will need to set out a clear procedure as to how the 
Community Right of Withdrawal will be formally exercised and 
recorded.  There needs to be a clear procedure in place to ensure 
there is certainty on the date that the Community Right of 
Withdrawal is exercised e.g. in terms of the availability of CIF.  For 
example, will each RPLA provide a letter to RWM to exercise the 
Community Right of Withdrawal or will another method of formal 
notification be used?                                                                      

 
RWM Ability to Withdraw 

RWM has a wide discretion, at all times based on sound evidence and 
justification, as to whether to exercise the RWM Ability to Withdraw.  Nothing 
in this MoU and or arising from RWM's membership of the Community 
Partnership will prevent RWM's ability to exercise the RWM Ability to 
Withdraw. 

In the event RWM decides to exercise the RWM Ability to Withdraw in the 
Search Area or the Potential Host Community (as appropriate) then: 

a) The siting process and any activity by RWM in the Search Area or the 
Potential Host Community (once identified) including the availability of CIF will 
end (save that any CIF already made or committed in the financial year in 
which the RWM Ability to Withdraw is exercised shall continue to be 
honoured); and 

b) Pursuant to Clause 4 above, the Members will agree the steps and 
procedure to take to dissolve the Community Partnership and the date of 
termination of this MoU.  

Page 25



 

Note to Members:  

The MoU could set out the procedure as to how RWM will inform the 
Community Partnership that it intends to exercise its RWM Ability to 
Withdraw. There needs to be a clear procedure in place to ensure 
there is certainty on the date that the RWM Ability to Withdraw is 
exercised e.g. in terms of the continued availability of CIF.  For 
example, will RWM need to write to each RPLA or will some other 
method be used?   

 

 
TEST OF PUBLIC SUPPORT 

The Members acknowledge that: 

It is the RPLA Member(s) that will take the decision on when to hold a Test of 
Public Support.  If there is more than one RPLA Member on the Community 
Partnership, then each RPLA Member must agree that the Test of Public 
Support can take place. 

If the RPLA Member(s) agree to involve RWM and the Community Members in 
discussions on an appropriate time to hold the Test of Public Support then 
RWM and the Community Members shall make recommendations to the RPLA 
Member(s) on the timing of the Test of Public Support. 

The RPLA Members and the Community Members (but not RWM) shall decide 
on the method to be used for the Test of Public Support; and 

Following a negative Test of Public Support the siting process will come to an 
end in the Potential Host Community and in accordance with Clause 4 above, 
the Community Partnership will be dissolved and this MoU will terminate. 

Page 26



 

The Members agree to work together to assess which mechanism is the most 
appropriate for undertaking the Test of Public Support, at all times taking into 
account the specific characteristics of the Potential Host Community (the 
"Method").  [The Method can be annexed as a Schedule to this MoU].   

Note to Members:  

The MoU should include the process for developing the procedure for 
the Test of Public Support e.g. an options paper setting out the pros 
and cons of each available mechanism could be prepared by the 
Members [or independent experts selected by the Members] together 
with a preferred option with detailed reasons supporting the same.  
Once a detailed options paper has been prepared, the Members could 
arrange for a meeting of the Community Partnership to decide on the 
preferred option. It would be necessary to consider the voting 
rights/Quorum required for a vote to agree the procedure for the Test 
of Public Support. 

The Method will need to include information on the practical steps and 
procedures that will need to be in place (including costs of the same) 
to allow the Test of Public Support to take place, for example, venues, 
electronic communications/voting, publicity, recording and the 
communication of results. The Members will keep the Method under 
regular review.   

 
ACCESS TO SCIENTIFIC AND TECHNICAL INFORMATION 

RWM is the first port of call for information on geological disposal and the 
siting process.  Where the Community Partnership receives conflicting 
statements from different parties, the UK and Welsh Governments have 

Note to Members:   

As per paragraph 6.44 and 6.96 of the WWC Policy, the mechanism for 
the Test of Public Support shall be decided by the Community 
Partnership as a whole.  However, RWM as the delivery body will be 
able to advise but not vote on the mechanism.  Paragraph 6.98 of the 
WWC Policy provides that there are currently three main mechanisms 
that could be used for the Test of Public Support being: a local 
referendum, a formal consultation or statistically representative polling. 
Other methods may emerge which the Members could consider. 

Page 27



 

developed a mechanism through which the Community Partnership can access 
independent experts for views on contested and unresolved technical and or 
scientific issues that may arise during the siting process.  

The UK Government, the Welsh Government, RWM and Learned Societies 
signed a Memorandum of Understanding in relation to the mechanism in 
December 2018 (the "Learned Society MoU")2. In accordance with paragraphs 
6.60 to 6.63 of the WWC Policy, the Members shall follow the procedure set 
out in the "Learned Society MoU" to obtain the views of Learned Society 
members. 

CONFIDENTIALITY AND DATA PROTECTION 

The Members recognise that the activities of the Community Partnership are 
likely to result in a range of data and information to which various legal 
regimes will apply (including FOIA, EIR and the data protection regimes). All 
data and information held and or processed by the Community Partnership 
and its Members must be held and treated in accordance with the applicable 
statutory regimes. 

Members of the Community Partnership that are public bodies are subject to 
the requirements of the FOIA and EIR.  Each Member undertakes to assist each 
other individual Member in complying with their statutory obligations under 
FOIA and EIR. 

The Members recognise the need to respect each of the individual Members 
confidentiality.  Each Member agrees (subject always to any disclosure 
required in order to comply with statutory obligations) not to disclose any 
information or communications which any other Member has expressly stated 
to be confidential.   

Note to Members:  

Consider the application of and compliance with the General Data 
Protection Regulation (EU) 2016/679 (the "GDPR") and the UK Data 
Protection Act 2018 in relation to the processing of any personal 
data by the Members in furthering the work of the Community 
Partnership.  For example, consider the subject matter of the data 
processing and whether there is an appropriate privacy notice in 
place (i.e. setting out the legal basis of the processing and informing 

                                                           
2 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/implementing-geological-disposal-working-with-communities-
long-term-management-of-higher-activity-radioactive-waste 

Page 28

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/implementing-geological-disposal-working-with-communities-long-term-management-of-higher-activity-radioactive-waste
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/implementing-geological-disposal-working-with-communities-long-term-management-of-higher-activity-radioactive-waste


 

individuals of their data protection rights).  Further, consider 
whether an addendum is needed to an existing contract between a 
"data controller" and "data processor" to make sure the GDPR is 
complied with?   

On the formation of the Community Partnership, the Members may 
want to carry out a Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) to 
help to identify and minimise the data protection risks of the 
Community Partnership and its work.   

For more information on the GDPR and data protection, see the 
Information Commissioner's Office (ICO) website:- 
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-data-protection/guide-
to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/. 

In terms of confidential (including, for example, commercially 
sensitive information), the Members may want to consider whether 
a confidentiality agreement would be appropriate and/or practical.   

 

ANNOUNCEMENTS AND PUBLICITY 

Note to Members: 

The Members may wish to develop and keep under review a Joint 
Communications Protocol and to attach this as a Schedule to the 
Agreement.   The Joint Communications Protocol could set out, for 
example, the principles and process for making any press releases 
and public announcements in relation to the work of the Community 
Partnership including the need for the Members to take into account 
each of the individual Members confidentiality and data protection 
requirements (subject always to compliance with any statutory 
disclosure requirements). 

 
CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 
 
In certain circumstances, the Members acknowledge that a conflict of interest 
may arise during the work and decision making of the Community Partnership 
(including, for example, where any Member is also a member of any 
Community Investment Panel). 

Page 29

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-data-protection/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-data-protection/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/


 

Paragraph 8 of the ToR attached at Schedule 1 sets out the procedure for 
members to follow where there is or there is the potential for a conflict of 
interest to arise.  The Members will ensure that a similar conflicts of interest 
procedure is included in the ToR for each Sub-group established by the 
Community Partnership. 

REVIEW 

During the Term, this MoU should be reviewed by all the Members at least 
[annually][every [    ] years].  The Members shall agree any required 
amendments to this MoU at the [Annual Meeting] of the Community 
Partnership where a Quorum is present. 

VARIATION 

Variations to this MoU (including for the avoidance of doubt, all schedules and 
documents/protocols relating to and developed pursuant to this MoU) will 
only have effect and be incorporated into this MoU if and when agreed in 
writing between all the Members [(including where the amendment is agreed 
at a quorate meeting and is recorded in the minutes of a meeting)]. 

DISPUTE RESOLUTION  

The Members will use their reasonable endeavours to resolve any 
disagreement that may arise in relation to this MoU and or in relation to the 
operation and work of the Community Partnership.  The Members will work 
together to discuss any areas of disagreement and use reasonable endeavours 
to reach a compromise and resolution to disagreements in an efficient and 
timely manner.  The Members acknowledge the need to take a proportionate 
approach to the resolution of disagreements, taking into account the needs of 
the community and the wider objectives of the siting process. 

Note to Members:  

Any formal processes or procedures for the resolution of disputes 
should be attached as schedule to this MOU. The Members will keep 
the method for resolving disputes under regular review.   

 

 

 

Page 30



 

SCHEDULE ONE 

DEFINITIONS 

Note to Members:  

The definitions need to be consistent with those in the WWC Policy (and 
the Community Guidance where relevant).  

"Business Day" means any day that is not a Saturday, or Sunday, 
Christmas Day, Good Friday or any day that is a bank 
holiday; 

"Community 
Guidance" 

means the guidance published by RWM on the 19th 
December 2018 entitled, "Community Guidance: How 
we will work with communities in England" as may be 
amended or replaced from time to time; 

"Community 
Investment 
Funding" or 
"CIF") 

means the funding that will be available for projects, 
schemes or initiatives in the Search Area once a 
Community Partnership is formed and a Community 
Partnership Agreement is signed by all the individual 
members of the Community Partnership; 

"Community 
Investment 
Funding/CIF 
Principles" 

means the principles set out in paragraph 6.70 of the 
WWC Policy which provides that CIF can be used to 
pay for projects, schemes or initiatives in the Search 
Area or the Potential Host Community (as 
appropriate) that: 

 improve community well-being. 

 enhance the natural and built environment; or 

 provide economic development opportunities, 
for example, employment opportunities, job 
creation or education or training. 

"Community 
Investment 
Panel" 

means a panel that may be set up by the Members of 
the Community Partnership to assist with decisions 
on applications to fund projects, schemes or 
initiatives within the Search Area and the Potential 

Page 31



 

Host Community from the Community Investment 
Funding; 

"Community 
Partnership" 

means the community partnership referred to in 
paragraphs 6.28 to 6.30  of the WWC Policy as set up 
by this MoU; 

"Community 
Partnership 
Agreement" 

means this MoU signed by all the Members which 
sets out the roles and responsibilities of the 
Members including any variations and or 
replacements to the same agreed in writing between 
the Members (and or any subsequent Members); 

"Community 
Right of 
Withdrawal" 

means the ability of the community in the Search 
Area or the Potential Host Community (as 
appropriate) to withdraw from the GDF siting process 
as set out in paragraphs 6.88 to 6.93 of the WWC 
Policy; 

"Community 
Vision" or 
"Community 
Visioning" 

means a community vision made up of strategic 
goals/ambitions which have been developed by the 
Community in the Search Area and/or the Potential 
Host Community;  

"EIR" means the Environmental Information Regulations 
2004 together with any guidance and/or codes of 
practice issued by the Information Commissioner or 
relevant government department in relation to such 
regulations; 

"Expenses 
Procedure" 

means the RWM stakeholder expenses procedure 
referred to in paragraph [10] (Expenses and Costs) of 
the terms of reference of the Community Partnership 
as provided by RWM to the Members from time to 
time and included in Schedule [   ]  of this MoU; 

"FOIA" means the Freedom of Information Act 2000, and any 
subordinate legislation from time to time, together 
with any guidance and/or codes of practice issued by 
the Information Commissioner or relevant 
government department in relation to such 
legislation; 

Page 32



 

"Funding 
Administrator" 

means the body responsible for administering the 
Community Investment Funding; 

"Learned 
Society" 

means an organisation that exists to promote an 
academic discipline, profession, or a group of related 
disciplines; members of which may help Community 
Partnerships in accessing independent scientific and 
technical views; 

"Potential Host 
Community" 

means the community within the district or unitary 
electoral wards in which the GDF and associated 
development would be located;  

"Programme of 
Activities" 

means the programme of activities developed and 
kept under regular review by the Members of the 
Community Partnership and  appended at Schedule [  
] of this MoU;  

"Quorum" means [                                                                                      
]  

Note for Members:  

Each Community Partnership will need to 
determine the appropriate Quorum for meetings, 
taking into account the number and type of 
Members and the particular decisions being made.  
It may be that a different Quorum is required for 
different meetings/decisions to enable fair and 
proportionate decision making. 

 

"Relevant 
Principal Local 
Authorities" 

means the local authorities that represent residents 
in all or part of the Search Area (or once identified 
the Potential Host Community); 

"Relevant 
Principal Local 
Authority 
Members" 

means the Relevant Principal Local Authority[ies] that 
wish to participate in the Community Partnership and 
have entered into and signed this MoU;  

"RWM Ability to 
Withdraw" 

means the ability of RWM to withdraw from the 
siting process within the Search Area or the Potential 

Page 33



 

Host Community (as appropriate) at any time as set 
out in paragraph 6.94 of the WWC Policy; 

"Search Area" means the geographic area encompassing all the 
electoral wards within which RWM will be able to 
search for potential sites for a GDF.   For areas which 
include potential for development under the seabed, 
the Search Area will comprise only that area on land; 

"Sub-group" means any sub-group to the Community Partnership 
established by the Members pursuant to clause 8 of 
this MoU including the Community Investment Panel.  
The Members shall develop and agree a separate 
Terms of Reference for each Sub-group; 

"Term" means the term of this MoU as more particularly set 
out in Clause 4 of this MoU; 

"Test of Public 
Support" 

means the mechanism to establish whether residents 
of the Potential Host Community support the 
development of a GDF within their community; and 

"WWC Policy" means the UK Government policy entitled 
"Implementing Geological Disposal - Working with 
Communities - An Updated framework for the long-
term management of higher activity radioactive 
waste" dated 19th December 2018. 

 
SCHEDULE 2 

DRAFT COMMUNITY PARTNERSHIP TERMS OF REFERENCE ("ToR") 

1. Purpose 

These ToR set out the roles and responsibilities of the Members and the 
procedures governing how the Community Partnership will operate.   

Guiding Principles 

Note to Members:  

The Guiding Principles will underpin the Members work on the 
Community Partnership.  RWM, in the Community Guidance, has 

Page 34



 

set out a set of principles to be taken into account when working 
with communities (see Section 1 "the principles we work to").   

The Members may want to consider the need to develop (and in 
undertaking their role as Members to adhere to) an agreed list of 
key "Overarching Principles" e.g. co-operation and collaboration; 
openness and transparency; and efficiency and objectivity.  

Also see the 7 principles of public life, the "Nolan principles" 
which are the basis of the ethical standards expected of public 
office holders: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-7-principles-
of-public-life.  

 

Conduct 

The Members shall, at all times, conduct themselves in a transparent manner, 
encouraging engagement with a wide cross section of the community within 
the Search Area (and once identified, the Potential Host Community). 

The Members shall develop and adhere to the Community Partnership Code of 
Conduct (attached at Schedule [  ] of this MoU) (including declaring any 
conflicts of interest in accordance with paragraph 8 below). 

Membership 

Note to Members:  

On formation of the Community Partnership, the Members will 
need to agree which decisions each Member has rights to vote on, 
each Member's voting rights, whether or not consensus is required 
and in what circumstances.  RWM will not take part in any votes 
on the Community Right of Withdrawal or the Test of Public 
Support. 

Consider the need for building in flexibility on membership e.g. to 
provide that individuals/organisations located within neighbouring 
areas to the Search Area can be appointed as members of the 
Community Partnership in particular circumstances. For example, 
the boundaries of the Search Area are likely to change during the 
siting process and as site characterisation and site evaluations are 

Page 35

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-7-principles-of-public-life
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-7-principles-of-public-life


 

carried out.  If the Search Area changes, the Community 
Partnership might want to retain Members located within the 
original Search Area in order to continue to benefit from the 
expertise, knowledge and understanding they will have already 
gained from their involvement in the siting process. 

 
Membership List 
 
A Membership List detailing membership status and voting rights for each 
Member of the Community Partnership will be maintained and attached in 
Schedule [  ] to this MoU.  The original copy of the Membership List will be 
signed by the Chair of the Community Partnership as amendments to 
membership are made. 

Note to Members:  

Remember to consider compliance with data protection legislation i.e. 
compliance with the GDPR and the UK Data Protection Act 2018 in terms of 
sharing personal information/membership details.  See Clause 16 of this 
MoU. 

 
Appointment of Members 

The minimum membership requirements for the Community Partnership are 
set out in paragraphs 6.28 to 6.29 of the WWC Policy. 

From the date of this MoU, the Members acknowledge that the Community 
Partnership is responsible for: 

Keeping the membership of the Community Partnership under review to 
ensure it is reflective of and  appropriate to the Search Area (and, once 
identified, the  Potential Host Community) and is able to fulfil the roles and 
responsibilities required of the Community Partnership (as set out in the WWC 
Policy).  

Appointing new Members to the Community Partnership as and when 
required. 

Putting in place an effective monitoring process to review  the continued 
effectiveness of the Community Partnership and its Members, including 
measures to improve effectiveness if necessary and the basis of terminating 

Page 36



 

membership when required (save for RWM which is a permanent Member 
and subject to paragraph 4.5.2 below). 

Preparing and keeping updated the Code of Conduct.  

Keeping the structure of the Community Partnership under review, for 
example, considering whether further Sub-groups are required to address 
specific topics and how to establish these additional Sub-groups; and 

The process for selecting and appointing Community Members must be open 
and transparent. 

The Members will make sure the membership of the Community Partnership 
continues to reflect the different aspects of the community in the Search Area 
(and, once identified, the Potential Host Community).   

Community Members will be appointed in an open and transparent manner 
taking into account the information and guidance set out in the Community 
Guidance. 

The Members will be participating on a voluntary basis. 

Care is required to make sure there are always enough Members to allow the 
effective working of the Community Partnership taking into account, for 
example, the need for effective and efficient decision making. 

The appointment of Members needs to be open and transparent to the 
residents in the Search Area (and the Potential Host Community, once 
identified). 

 
Co-opted Members 

Note for Members:  

The Members will need to decide whether co-optees should be 
considered full members of the Community Partnership or 
whether, for example, there is a need for restrictions on co-
optees e.g. in relation to voting on Community Partnership 
matters; and limitations on  the term/duration of co-optees 
membership.  

 

Page 37



 

Substitutions 

Note for Members: 

The Members will need to consider whether provisions are 
required on substitutions (e.g. if representatives of a Member are 
unable to attend who will attend in their place?)  Also, will 
substitutes be given the same rights and responsibilities as the full 
Member? 

 
Duration of Membership 

RWM is a permanent member of the Community Partnership during the Term. 

Pursuant to paragraph 6.28 of the WWC Policy, during the Term, there must be 
at least one Relevant Principal Local Authority representing each district or 
unitary authority electoral ward in the Search Area. 

The Community Members are not permanent members of the Community 
Partnership and may decide to leave the Community Partnership at any time. 

The appointment of individual Community Members of the Community 
Partnership will last for a term of [  ] year[s] unless:- 

renewed for a further [   ] year term at the [annual meeting]; or 

terminated early in accordance with paragraph 4.6 below; 

As set out in paragraph 4.3 above, co-opted membership may be offered for a 
[limited period] as agreed by the Members at a meeting of the Community 
Partnership [where a Quorum is present]. 

Review of Membership  

Note to Members:  

Consider the mechanisms/drafting to ensure the membership 
structure of the Community Partnership (including Co-opted 
Members and substitutions) and the voting rights of the Members 
are kept under regular review, for example: 

 how to re-appoint members. 

Page 38



 

 gaps in membership. 

Underperformance of Members/breach of the Code of Conduct 
etc. and the termination of appointments e.g. if a Community 
Member is in serious/regular breach of the Code of Conduct; fails 
to assist RWM and/or the RPLA Members with their 
FOI/EIR/confidentiality requirements; has not declared a relevant 
Conflict of Interest or fails to attends meetings or carry out their 
responsibilities as a Member etc. 

Subject to paragraph 4.5.2 above, how to terminate the 
appointment of Members, for example, by written notice in the 
event that the boundaries of the Search Area (or, once identified, 
the Potential Host Community) change and for example, result in 
certain Members no longer residing or representing residents 
within the Search Area or Potential Host Community (as 
appropriate). 

he Members may decide to retain Members on the Community 
Partnership (even where the boundaries of the Search Area (or, 
once identified, the Potential Host Community) change and result 
in such retained Members not being within the Search Area or 
Potential Host Community (as appropriate).   This could be to 
retain the knowledge and experience such Members will have 
obtained from their membership of the Community Partnership to 
date.  Where a Search Area changes and results in a RPLA Member 
no longer being a Relevant Principal Local Authority - the RPLA 
Member may, if appropriate and agreed with Members, continue 
to be a Member of the Community Partnership as a local authority 
only (i.e. it would not have the enhanced voting rights of a RPLA 
Member).  

 

Role of Members 

Note to Members:  

The Members will need to review and decide on any additional roles 
and responsibilities of the Members.   

Decision Making 

Page 39



 

The RPLA Members only will be responsible for making the following decisions 
on the Community Partnership: 

Whether to exercise the Community Right of Withdrawal i.e. to withdraw the 
community in the Search Area or the Potential Host Community (as 
appropriate) from the siting process; and 

When to seek the community's views on whether it wishes to host a GDF (i.e. 
proceed to a Test of Public Support). 

All other decisions shall be taken by all the Members of the Community 
Partnership (save that RWM will not be involved in any decisions/votes on the 
Community Right of Withdrawal and the Test of Public Support). 

Note to Members:  

It will also be necessary to consider the principles for decision 
making e.g. the need to follow any agreed "Guiding Principles" 
and to take the overarching purpose of the Community 
Partnership into account when making decisions; the need for 
proportionate and reasonable decision making based on the 
information available at the time; the promotion of equality and 
the need to address issues of diversity. 

The process for decision making is also important e.g. decisions 
will normally be made through consensus between the Members; 
however, where there is a need for a vote to be taken to reach a 
decision, will each Member allocated a vote have equal rights/one 
vote?  This might depend on the subject being voted on (e.g. 
RWM cannot vote on questions of community withdrawal).  Will a 
Quorum be required to allow certain votes to be taken?  Where a 
vote has been taken, if the vote is balanced, will the Chair have 
the casting vote? 

 

Meetings 

Note to Members:  

Examples of matters that may need to be set out in this section 
include, for example: 

 What constitutes a Quorum for decisions to be made? 

Page 40



 

 How many meetings will be held each year? 

 How will topics for the agenda be decided? 

 How and when will meeting papers be circulated? 
Post/electronic/both? 

 What will be the format of meetings e.g. small group 
discussions? 

 Will non-members be invited to meetings of the Community 
Partnership and if so, in what circumstances? 

 How will meetings be recorded and actions monitored? 

 conduct of meetings. 
 

Consider the type of meetings, for example:  

 Annual Meetings (to discuss governance matters of the 
Community Partnership e.g. to review the membership and 
structure of the Community Partnership; to make re-
appointments and termination of appointments; co-opting 
and substitution of members; and to review any agreed 
monitoring/performance indicators and the Programme of 
Activities etc.) 

 Regular Meetings (being the regular meetings of the 
Community Partnership in accordance with an agreed 
schedule of meetings)   

 

Conflicts of Interest 

In certain circumstances, the Members acknowledge that a conflict of interest 
may arise during the work and decision making of the Community Partnership 
(including any Sub-group of the Community Partnership).   

Note to Members: 

The Members will need to agree what will be considered to 
constitute a conflict of interest (at all times taking into account the 
requirements of the WWC Policy).   For example: 

 Where any Member could be seen to be using their position 
as a Member to secure preferential treatment or advantage 

Page 41



 

for themselves or those with whom they are connected (e.g. 
friends or family); or 

 Circumstances where a Member has a personal interest in 
the subject matter being discussed by the Community 
Partnership and the potential for this to create bias by the 
Member in question with regards to the decision making of 
the Community Partnership. 

 

[Where a Member has an interest in a matter arising at a meeting of the 
Community Partnership (including in relation to the work of the Community 
Investment Panel) and or considers there is the potential for a conflict of 
interest to arise, the Member shall disclose such actual and or potential 
conflict of interest to the Chair.  The Chair shall decide whether the Member 
should withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is being considered and 
or from any further involvement on the Community Partnership in relation to 
the subject matter in question.  The minutes of the meeting should record the 
declaration of interest and the action taken. 

The Chair shall record and maintain a Member Register of Interests setting out 
actual or potential conflicts of interests declared and disclosed by the 
Members in relation to the work, operation and decision making of the 
Community Partnership]. 

Information Sharing 

Note to Members:  

The Members will need to agree provisions on, for example: 

 How will the Members share information and resources? 

 Will there be a nominated spokesperson? 

 How will confidential matters, copyright issues, and 
personal data issues be identified and dealt with?  See 
Clause 16 of this MoU. 

 Will there be a webpage for the Community Partnership 
and if so, will it be password protected and who will be 
responsible for facilitating and updating it? 

 Consider online sharing of information via online forums?  
What rules will apply to such online storage and sharing 
of information? 

Page 42



 

 The Members may wish to develop an Information 
Sharing Protocol setting out how the Members will work 
together to share information (again, taking into account 
confidentiality and data protection). 

 

Regular Review 

The Members will keep the ToR under regular review with a formal review 
carried out at least [annually][every [  ] years] to ensure the ToR are kept up to 
date and continue to reflect the purpose and objectives of the Community 
Partnership. 

In accordance with Clause 20 of the MoU (Variation), all amendments to the 
ToR shall be in writing.  The amended ToR will be attached to the MoU in 
Schedule [   ]. 

Expenses and Costs 

Individuals will be participating in the Community Partnership on a voluntary 
basis.  The reasonable and proper expenses of individuals with regards to 
participating in the Community Partnership meetings will be reimbursed by 
RWM in line with the Expenses Procedure.  Individuals must comply with the 
Expenses Procedure at all times. 

Note to Members:  

List of Additional Schedules to be agreed and developed by the 
Members could include: 

 Code of Conduct 

 List of Members (including status of Members and 
individual voting rights/which matters each Member can 
vote on).  Note the need to comply with data protection in 
sharing personal data. 

 Register of Interests (recording declaration of 
interests/actual or potential conflicts of interests of the 
Members) 

 Community Right of Withdrawal - the agreed mechanism 
for consulting the view of the community on whether to 

Page 43



 

exercise the Community Right of Withdrawal (to be kept 
under review and maintained/updated as required). 

 Agreed Local Criteria for Community Investment Funding 
(with justification/explanation of the same) 

 Joint Communications Protocol (to cover public 
announcements/publicity) 

 Information Sharing Protocol (to include confidentiality 
and data protection matters) 

 The Programme of Activities (including actions, timescales 
for carrying out the actions and monitoring indicators) 

 Monitoring and Key Performance Indicators 

 Expenses Procedure (with regards to claiming reasonable 
out of pocket expenses) 

 Map of the Search Area/ Potential Host Community (to be 
kept under regular review and maintained/updated as 
required) 

 Signatory Page (all Members of the Community Partnership 
(including replacement/new Members) must sign the 
Community Partnership Agreement 

 

 
 

Page 44



 

 

STRATEGIC NUCLEAR AND ENERGY BOARD 240621 

 

UK Atomic Energy Authority (UKAEA) Spherical Tokamak for Energy 

Production (STEP) Siting Process 

 

LEAD OFFICER: Pat Graham, Chief Executive Officer 

REPORT AUTHOR: Rob Ward, Strategic Nuclear & Energy Manager 

 

Summary: 

This paper provides an update to members on the siting process launched 

by the UK Atomic Energy Authority in late 2020 to identify a site for the 

development of a future Fusion facility, known as “STEP”. 

In March, the Cumbria LEP in partnership with Copeland Borough Council 

nominated the Moorside site into this process. Since the last report in 

April, following an initial assessment for compliance with the key entry 

criteria, UKAEA has now published the long list of nominated sites, 

including Moorside. 

Recommendation: 

That members of the Board: 

1. Note the information in this paper. 

1. Background 

1.1. The STEP programme is an UKAEA and UK Government initiative to 

accelerate progress towards commercially-viable fusion power, 

through design and construction of a prototype fusion reactor by 

2040. 

1.2. The STEP programme aims to build on the UK’s world-leadership in 

compact fusion technology, and aims to transition from a research-

led sector to industrial-design and delivery. 

1.3. To date, the UK’s fusion development activity has been focussed at 

the Culham Centre for Fusion Energy in Oxfordshire, home to the 

Joint European Torus (JET) and Mega Ampere Spherical Tokamak 

(MAST) fusion test reactors. 

Page 45

Agenda Item 9



 

 

1.4. However, the UKAEA is now searching for a site elsewhere in the 

UK to construct the STEP facility and to host the associated 

industrial and supply chain facilities. 

2. The Siting Process 

2.1. UKAEA has set out the criteria by which sites will be assessed: 

1. Showstoppers: pass/fail 

2. Commercial terms: score/100 

3. Socio-economic vision: score/100 

4. On-site characteristics: score/100 

5. Off-site characteristics: score/100 

2.2. The elements of these 5 “pools” are shown in the image below: 

 

2.3. Further information on the STEP facility and siting process is 

available on the UKAEA website, accessible via the following link: 

https://step.ukaea.uk/  

3. Update – STEP at Moorside 

3.1. On Friday 11th June, the UKAEA published the list of sites that have 

passed the showstoppers assessment and will now be assessed 

against criteria described at 2.2 above. Council officers will work 

with Cumbria LEP colleagues to support this next stage of 

assessment. 

3.2. The 15 sites that have moved on to the next stage are: 

Page 46

https://step.ukaea.uk/


 

 

Site Nominating entity 

Dounreay Caithness and North Sutherland Regeneration 
Partnership 

East Airdrie Fusion Forward (East Airdrie) Consortium  

Poneil Fusion Forward (Poniel) Consortium  

Ardeer Fusion Forward (Ardeer) Consortium  

Chapelcross South of Scotland Enterprise 

Moorside Cumbria Local Enterprise Partnership, in partnership 
with Copeland Borough Council 

Bay Fusion (Heysham) Bay Fusion (collaboration between industry, Lancaster 
City Council, Lancashire County Council and Lancaster 
University) 

Goole East Riding of Yorkshire Council 

West Burton Nottinghamshire County Council  

Ratcliffe on Soar Nottinghamshire County Council  

Milford Haven Pembrokeshire County Council 

Severn Edge 
(Oldbury/Berkeley) 

Western Gateway 

Aberthaw Vale of Glamorgan Council  

Bridgwater Bay Heart of the South West Local Enterprise Partnership 

Bradwell Belport Ltd 

 

3.3. Following the next stage of assessment, a further shortlisting 

exercise will take place, which is likely to be completed by autumn 

2021. 

Page 47



 

 

3.4. The announcement is published on the gov.uk website: 

UK's prototype fusion energy plant is one step closer to finding a 

home - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

3.5. Local media coverage can be viewed via the following link: 

Moorside nuclear fusion power plant moves to next stage - 

cumbriacrack.com 

3.6. Further updates will be provided to SNEB and via Executive 

Portfolio Holder reports to Executive Committee and Full Council as 

appropriate. 

Page 48

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/uks-prototype-fusion-energy-plant-is-one-step-closer-to-finding-a-home
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/uks-prototype-fusion-energy-plant-is-one-step-closer-to-finding-a-home
https://cumbriacrack.com/2021/06/11/moorside-nuclear-fusion-powerplant-moves-to-next-stage/
https://cumbriacrack.com/2021/06/11/moorside-nuclear-fusion-powerplant-moves-to-next-stage/

	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the Meeting held on  29 April 2021
	8 Geological Disposal Facility (GDF) Update
	9 Spherical Tokamak for Energy Production (STEP) Siting Process Update

